1963

# State of Utah v. Terry D. Louden : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF THE KIND OF CASE

This is a prosecution for burglary in the second degree.

DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

The case was tried to a jury. From a verdict of guilty and judgment of conviction and sentence, defendant appeals.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Defendant seeks reversal of judgment of conviction and sentence.

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

In making this statement of facts the numbers in parenthesis refer to the pertinent page numbers of the record.

At about 6:00 p.m. on July 28, 1962 (75) two deputy sheriffs of Salt Lake County, Utah, acting upon an "anonymous tip" (73,74) went to a motel in Salt Lake County (74,75). They then requested and obtained permission from the motel manager to look around the motel room occupied by defendant (75). Said deputies did not have the permission of defendant (or of anyone who was renting said room) to enter said motel room (81). The deputies and the motel manager entered defendant's room, searched and found a loaded revolver in a bureau drawer in the room. After looking around the room some more they left the room and waited outside behind a large hedge until defendant and Roland D. McQueen returned to the motel room at about 6:30 p.m. (76). Thereafter the deputies went

up the stairs to the motel room (76). One of the deputies had his gun drawn as they walked up the stairs (83). One of the deputies testified that it was possible that the defendant and his companion saw that deputy (who came up the stairs with his gun drawn) come up the stairs (87). After looking in the room and observing that defendant and his companion were unarmed, the deputy put the gun back in its holster and walked into the room (83,84) in a very assumptive manner (86). When asked whether it would have done them any good to protest, one of the deputies testified, "Well, that I don't know." As the deputies were already entering the room they asked if they could come in and look around (85,89). The deputies did not ask to look around till they were in the room (89). One of the deputies testified that before they searched, they received permission to do so from defendant and his companion (87). Thereafter the deputies searched

defendant and his companion and then they took the said gun from the drawer (87). During said search, the deputies also found a watch in a drawer and some crow bars in a closet (77). Said deputy sheriff's did not have a search warrant for any of the foregoing searches (82,83,88). Nor is there any evidence that they had an arrest warrant or that any crime was committed in their presence.

Said gun was introduced and received in evidence as exhibit S-1. The watch taken from the drawer (same drawer as gun) was introduced and received as evidence as exhibit S-2 (77,97). As a result of the said search another watch was taken from defendant's person (77) and admitted in evidence as exhibit S-2 (97) and as the result of said search and of said confession (79) a camera was obtained (80) and received in evidence as exhibit S-4 (97). The testimony tended to show that the serial number on said gun (76) was

the same as the serial number on a box which had contained a gun allegedly stolen from Harmon City Shopping Center (64,65).

Defendant moved to suppress as evidence the fruit of the foregoing search (6,8,68,71,72) but the court denied the motions (68,71,72). Defendant also made a motion at the trial that the court itself hear evidence on the issue of the illegal search and seizure and determine that question, before evidence thereon was presented to the jury (69), but the court refused to follow that procedure, and allowed the evidence to ~~initially~~ go to the jury (70). Defendant also objected to the admission of testimony regarding said search and seizure (75).

After defendant and his companion had been searched (together with the room), defendant was taken to the Salt Lake County jail (78) where he was allegedly held on another charge (92,93). One of the deputies

testified that two days later at the jail he had a conversation with defendant (78,92), and that during this conversation, which was a general conversation in which the deputy intended to get a confession (92), defendant allegedly made a confession (79,80), and thereafter in the same conversation the deputy told defendant that if he would clear up some other offenses of which he was suspected, that said deputy would not sign a complaint against him on those matters (90, 95). On August 2, 1962, three days later, the deputy signed a complaint against defendant for burglary before a judge of Salt Lake City (5) and a warrant of arrest was issued the same day, August 2, 1962, and defendant was arrested by virtue of said warrant on August 2, 1962 (4).

At the trial, defendant objected to the admission of evidence on the aforesaid alleged confession (67, 69). Defendant contended that the confession was

induced by a promise of leniency (69) and that the court should hear and determine whether evidence of the alleged confession was admissable (69).

Defendant's attorney stated his intention to call the defendant as a witness in the hearing before the court on the confession issue (68). The court however refused to hear and rule on the admissibility of the confession before letting the jury hear it (71,72).

At the trial a verdict of guilty was returned against defendant (37) and defendant was ordered confined in the Utah State Prison for the indeterminate term as provided by law for Burglary in the Second Degree (44).

## ARGUMENT

### POINT 1

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN REFUSING TO HEAR EVIDENCE ON THE ISSUE OF THE COMPETENCY OF DEFENDANT'S ALLEGED CONFESSION



AND RULING THEREON BEFORE PERMITTING  
EVIDENCE OF THE ALLEGED CONFESSION TO  
BE PRESENTED TO THE JURY.

The majority opinion written by Justice Wade in the case of *State v. Crank*, 105 Utah 332, 142 P. 2d 178 (1943) announced the rule applicable to alleged involuntary confessions. In that case the court held at page 373 :

"We agree with the rule approved in those cases, that a confession is not admissible in evidence unless it was voluntarily made; that this question must be determined by the court from all of the evidence from both sides bearing thereon; that if the court is satisfied from the evidence that the confession was voluntary, then the court admits the confession in evidence to the jury, together with all of the evidence on the question of whether it was voluntary, and the circumstances surrounding its being made, and from such evidence the jury must determine the weight and credibility to be given it, but may not determine its competency as evidence, that being a question for the court."

This has been the rule followed by the Supreme Court of Utah ever since. See *State v. Ashdown*, 5 Utah 2d 59, 269 P. 2d 726 (1956), *State v. Braasch*

119 Utah 450, 229 P. 2d 289 (1951), State v. Mares  
113 Utah 225, 192 P. 2d 861 (1948), and State v. Fraser,  
107 Utah 454, 154 P. 2d 752 (1944). The same rule  
applies whether the voluntariness of a confession  
comes in issue by virtue of abusive treatment or by  
virtue of a promise of leniency. See State v. Ashdown,  
supra.

The reasons for the rule are set forth in the Utah  
cases deciding and dealing with it, and the rule is  
clearly a good one. One observation should be made  
here, however. In State v. Ashdown, supra, the court  
appears to have approved the rule allowing the defend-  
ant, in the hearing before the court (in the absence of  
the jury) on the issue of the competency of a confession,  
to take the stand for the sole purpose of testifying as  
to that issue. See page 64 of that decision. The view  
that a defendant does not waive the privilege against  
self incrimination by taking the stand on the issue of  
an alleged involuntary confession only is supported

by the following cases: State v. Thomas, 203 La 548, 23 So. 2d 212 (1945) Enoch v. Comm. 141 Va 411, 126 SE 222 (1925) and Hawkins v. State 193 Miss 586, 10 So 2d 678 (1942). See also 147 ALR 255 at page 272. This is a good rule, and one which goes a long way in deterring unlawful interrogation procedures.

In this case, although the voluntariness of the alleged confession was properly raised by defendant at the trial, and although defendant's attorney proposed to call defendant as a witness in the issue of the competency of the alleged confession as evidence the court refused to hear and rule on the issue, but rather allowed it to go directly to the jury.

This procedure materially prejudiced defendant, because it precluded the defendant from testifying on the issue of competency. Had the court itself heard his testimony, as it should have, it might well have ruled the entire confession incompetent. Therefore it cannot be said that since the evidence presented

to the jury showed the confession to have been competent that the court merely committed a technical error which did not prejudice the defendant. The jury didn't hear all of the evidence.

Although the deputy testified that defendant confessed to the burglary before any promise of leniency was made, he did testify that the conversation was a general one and the record indicates some uncertainty even in his mind as to the order in which statements were made. The defendant should have been given an opportunity to present his testimony on that issue without waiving his privilege against self incrimination and before the confession was given to the jury. Failure to allow him to do so, and the admission in evidence of the confession and exhibit S-4, obtained as a result thereof, constitutes prejudicial error.

POINT 2

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN REFUSING TO GRANT DEFENDANT'S MOTION TO SUPPRESS EVIDENCE OBTAINED PURSUANT TO AN UNLAWFUL SEARCH AND SEIZURE AND IN REFUSING TO SUSTAIN DEFENDANT'S OBJECTION TO THE ADMISSION OF SUCH IN EVIDENCE.

The question of the admissability in a trial of evidence obtained as the result of an unlawful search and seizure has been a subject of controversy for many years. The prohibition against "unreasonable searches and seizures" contained in the Constitution of the United States, Amendment IV, and in the Constitution of Utah, Art. I, Section 14, is clear. What has not been so clear is what to do with evidence obtained in violation thereof. Much has been said on both sides. The Supreme Court of the United States announced the rule, that such evidence is inadmissible in federal courts, in the case of *Weeks v. United States*, 232 US 383, 58 L ed 652, 34 S Ct 341, LRA 1915 B 834, Ann Cas 1915 C 1177 (1914).

This rule of exclusion has received ever expanding application since then. Until 1961 the states were free to adopt or reject the exclusion rule in state court prosecutions for state crimes. This rule was formally announced in the case of *Wolf v. Colorado*, 338 US 25, 93 Led 1782, 69 S Ct 1359 (1949) which held that Amendment XIV of the Constitution of the United States did not forbid the admission of evidence obtained by unreasonable search and seizure in state court prosecutions for state crimes.

Prior to 1961 the Supreme Court of Utah along with a number of other states had rejected the exclusion rule. *State v. Aime* 62 Utah 476, 220 P. 704 (1923) and *State v. Fair* 10 Utah 2d 365, 353 P. 2d 615 (1960).

In 1961 the Supreme Court of the United States in the case of *Mapp v. Ohio*, 137 US 643, 6 Led 2d 1081, 81 S Ct 1684 (1961) overruled the case of *Wolf v. Colorado*, *supra*, and held on constitutional grounds, and not just as a rule of evidence, that:

"We hold that all evidence obtained by searches and seizures in violation of the Constitution is by that same authority, inadmissible in a state court."

The court holds that the exclusion rule of *Weeks v. United States*, supra, to be "an essential part of both the Fourth and Fourteenth Amendments". The court further said:

"Since the Fourth Amendment's right of privacy has been declared enforceable against the State through the Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth, it is enforceable against them by the same sanction of exclusion as is used against the Federal Government."

Thus the decision of *Mapp v. Ohio* has the effect of overruling the Utah cases of *State v. Aime*, supra, and *State v. Fair*, supra, and establishing in Utah the federal exclusion rule, the "same sanction of exclusion as is used against the Federal Government" *Mapp v. Ohio*, supra.

Thus this court must consider the issue of unlawful search and seizure in the light of the exclusion rules which exist in the federal courts as a minimum standard.

lenient as it deems proper in interpreting our state constitutional prohibition against "unreasonable searches and seizures" so long as it does not fall below the federal minimum standard.

Defendant contends that evidence obtained as a result of an unlawful search and seizure, in violation of both state and federal Constitutions, was received in evidence against him and that prejudicial error was thereby committed.

The deputies admitted that when they first entered the motel room they had no permission from defendant or anyone who was renting the room. The entry was a trespass and the search obviously unreasonable and unlawful.

The question remains, however, as to whether this unlawful search taints the second search which took place about thirty minutes later when defendant was in his room. The answer is that it does -- both on



principle and federal decision.

The case of *Silverthorne Lumber Co. v. United States* 251 US 385, 64 L ed 319, 40 S Ct 182, 24 ALR 1426 (1920) is a case where federal officials without authority unlawfully seized certain books and other papers. Based on information thus obtained a new indictment was framed. The items were returned after copies had been made and subpoenas issued to produce the originals. Plaintiff's in error refused, the court ordered compliance which was still refused. Contempt was adjudged and plaintiffs in error appealed. The Supreme Court there held in an opinion by Justice Holmes, that to allow such a use of illegally obtained evidence "reduces the 4th Amendment to a form of words". The court further held:

"The essence of a provision forbidding the acquisition of evidence in a certain way is that not merely evidence so acquired shall not be used before the court, but that it shall not be used at all. Of course this does not mean that the facts thus obtained become sacred and

and inaccessible. If knowledge of them is gained from an independent source they may be proved like any others, but the knowledge gained by the government's own wrong cannot be used by it in the way proposed."

Mapp v. Ohio, *supra*, cites with approval, at least three times, Silverthorne Lumber Co. v. United States, *supra*. It is thus clearly the present law on the question and is controlling in this case.

In the Silverthorne Case, *supra*, it was held that after an illegal search and seizure the government couldn't thereafter get the books and papers by lawful means (subpoena). Thus in the instant case, even if the deputies had returned with a proper search warrant, after their illegal search, they could not have seized the items of which they obtained knowledge during the unlawful search.

Under the Silverthorne case, *supra*, whatever facts were gained by the illegal search are not "sacred and inaccessible" but they can be proved

only if knowledge of them is gained from an "independent source". To hold otherwise would open the door to peace officers searching in secret, just like a burglar, but without taking the hazards of a burglar, because done without the interference of other peace officers. Then having found something incriminating as the result of such a "fishing expedition" return with a search warrant to make the whole thing legal. Past experience has shown that the possibility of an independent action for damages against a peace officer for such a trespass is not effective as a deterrent. If convicted, how is a defendant to finance such legal action from the penitentiary when he does not have funds to hire counsel to represent him in the criminal proceedings and must have counsel appointed for him by the court, as in this case.

It cannot be said that the gun and other items

were obtained from an "independent source". The second search was really just an extension of the first. Even assuming defendant gave the deputies permission to look around, it was given without knowledge of the illegal search. Had defendant been informed of the illegal search and that as a result the deputies could not get a search warrant (under the Silverthorne case, *supra*) defendant undoubtedly would not have allowed the search. Defendant cannot be said to have waived his rights arising from the illegal search and seizure without having been informed thereof. There can be no waiver without knowledge.

The foregoing arguments are particularly true in the light of the attitude of the deputies. They were "assumptive" and just walked into the room asking permission on their way, and this after having just had a gun drawn which defendant might have seen

according to the testimony. These facts alone should render the entire search and seizure illegal as constituting an implied coercion and thus rendering invalid any "consent" by the defendant. There is no waiver of an illegal search and seizure made under an implied coercion and the Supreme Court of the United States has so held, *Amos v. United States* 255 US 313, 41 S Ct 266, 65 L ed 654 (1921).

The admission in evidence of exhibits S-1, S-2, S-3 and S-4 and of testimony regarding the illegal search and seizure constitutes prejudicial error.

POINT 3

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN REFUSING TO HEAR <sup>all</sup> EVIDENCE AND RULE ON THE ISSUE OF THE COMPETENCY AND ADMISSIBILITY OF EVIDENCE OF AN ALLEGED UNLAWFUL SEARCH AND SEIZURE BEFORE PERMITTING EVIDENCE, ALLEGEDLY OBTAINED AS THE RESULT THEREOF, TO BE PRESENTED TO THE JURY.

When the issue of an illegal search and seizure was raised by the defendant, <sup>at the trial</sup> the court should have heard <sup>all</sup> the evidence bearing thereon in the absence of the jury and then made its ruling on the competency thereof. Defendant should have been permitted to testify on this issue <sup>at the trial</sup> without waiving his privilege against self incrimination. If the court found from all of the evidence thus presented that there was no unlawful search and seizure, then the evidence should have been presented to the jury who would then determine the weight and credibility to be given to it. This situation is similar to a situation involving a confession and should be so treated. So long as this court rejected the exclusion rule, the question of how to treat such evidence did not come up. Now that we have the exclusion rule, the court should clearly announce the rule to be followed in these situations, and upon principal and for <sup>expedi</sup> <sup>Machine-generated OCR; the court should be</sup> a matter should be

In cases such as the instant case, where an issue of unlawful search and seizure and of involuntary confession arise, the court could hear the evidence on both at the same time and in the absence of the jury.

POINT <sup>3</sup>~~4~~

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN REFUSING TO GIVE TO THE JURY DEFENDANT'S REQUESTED INSTRUCTIONS.

As stated in *Startin v. Madsen*, 120 Utah 631, 237 P. 2d 834 (1951) the court has the duty "to cover the theories of both parties in his instructions."

In this case the essence of defendant's requested instructions 3 to 7 was a request for a specific instruction on the confession issue. Although the request may have been technically excessive in the light of *State v. Ashdown*, supra, and *State v. Braasch*, supra, nevertheless, the court, in accordance with the spirit of the requests, should have given a specific instruction on the issue of the confession in terms like or similar to those contained in the instruction approved by this court in *State v. Ashdown*, supra, at pages 66 and 67

The failure to give such an instruction constitutes prejudicial error.

### CONCLUSION

Prejudicial error was committed in the trial of defendant as herein set out, and the judgment and sentence of the trial court should be reversed.