1963

State of Utah v. Terry D. Louden : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

of which he is charged, including the necessary acts and intent. An admission merely admits some fact which connects or tends to connect the defendant with the offense but not with all the elements of the crime. *State v. Johnson*, 95 Utah 572, 83 P. 2d 1010; *People v. Fowler*, 178 Cal. 657, 174 P. 892; *State v. Carroll*, 52 Wyo. 29, 69 P. 2d 542; *State v. Stevens*, 60 Mont. 390, 199 P. 256.

“Although there are some cases to the contrary, the great weight of authority and the better-reasoned cases hold that before receiving an admission—as distinguished from a confession—in evidence, it is not necessary that a preliminary showing be made to the effect that the statement was voluntary.”

In that case the court commented with references to the statement taken :

“In the statement testified to there was no express admission of the guilt of any crime of which defendant was charged. Construed against defendant in its strongest possible light, it was, at most, merely an admission that the defendant killed the deceased because deceased was no good. * * *”

Applying that case to the instant facts, it is apparent that the testimony of the police officer as to the statement made by the appellant amounted to no more than a statement of admissions. There was no admission of the intent to commit a criminal offense at the time of the breaking, nor any complete admission of total responsibility. What was said was merely several factual statements as to what was done. This is not sufficient to constitute a confession, and, consequently, the failure to grant an out of court hearing was not error.

B. It is submitted that no reversible error exists even if the appellant's statement to the police is deemed an admission, since a hearing was held out of court where the judge heard the nature of the appellant's evidence, although through counsel, and, thereafter determined to present the matter to the jury (R. 69). Since the judge thereafter determined to present the statement to the jury, he, in effect, determined that there was not sufficient basis to the appellant's objection to rule as a matter of law that the confession was involuntary. This being so, the appellant had all he was entitled to from an out of court hearing. *State v. Braasch*, 119 Utah 450, 229 P. 2d 289 (1951). He could thereafter, if he so decided, raise the same facts before the jury—however, he did not do so. Consequently, it cannot be claimed that any prejudice resulted to the appellant.

C. At the time of the out of court hearing on how the defendant's statement should be handled, the question of the evidence as to search and seizure and how it should be handled was also considered. The record reflects the following (R. 72) :

“MR. ROSS: That's what I want to do now is clean up the record. Then it's your ruling, is it not, that my—that you will hear the evidence both as to the illegal search—that all evidence of this witness will come in and then you will hear any motions I have as to the illegal search and seizure?

“THE COURT: And as to the alleged confession, if any. And those motions may be argued outside the presence of the jury and before the matter is submitted to the jury.

“MR. ROSS: All right. I’ll take my exception to that at this time.”

The appellant did not make it clear as to what he was objecting to. The discussions immediately before related to search and seizure problems. Since the appellant did not clearly object to the procedure to be followed as to the alleged confession, he cannot be heard at the appellate stage to complain. *State v. Mathews*, 13 Utah 2d 391, 394, 375 P. 2d 392 (1962).

Additionally, it is submitted that the appellant waived any contention as to the voluntariness of the statement he gave the deputy sheriff. No evidence was presented of any kind to rebut the testimony of the sheriff that all promises of immunity came subsequent to the statement received in evidence. Nor was any objection made to the admission of the sheriff’s testimony. Consequently, it is submitted the appellant waived any right to complain. *State v. Fraser*, 107 Utah 454, 154 P. 2d 752 (1944).

It is submitted, therefore, that there is no basis for reversal on the issue of appellant’s statement to the police.

POINT II.

NO BASIS FOR REVERSAL EXISTS ON THE CLAIM OF AN ILLEGAL SEARCH AND SEIZURE.

The appellant contends in Point 2 of his brief that the trial court erred in refusing to grant the defendant’s motion to suppress and in admitting into evidence the prop-

erty seized by deputy sheriffs during the search of the motel room in which the appellant was staying.

Although the United States Supreme Court has ruled that evidence procured by an unlawful search and seizure may not be used in state courts, *Mapp v. Ohio*, 367 U. S. 643 (1961), the determination of what conduct is "unreasonable" is still a matter for state determination. In *Commonwealth v. Bosurgi*, 190 Atl. 304 (Pa. 1963), the Pennsylvania Supreme Court noted :

"In passing upon the 'reasonableness' of a search and seizure, a preliminary and most important, question is whether Mapp requires that state courts determine the 'reasonableness' of such search and seizure in accordance with federal or state standards. To that question Mapp gives no direct answer. However, a study of Mapp would indicate that, at least by implication, state courts are still free to apply their own, rather than the federal, criteria of 'reasonableness'."

See also *Commonwealth v. Richards*, 198 Pa. Super. 42, 182 A. 2d 293 (1962).

Other courts have also followed the Pennsylvania reasoning. *State v. Smith*, 37 N. J. 481, 181 A. 2d 761, 767 (1962); *People v. Mickelson*, 30 Cal. Rptr. 18, 380 P. 2d 658 (1963); *People v. Ruiz*, 196 Cal. App. 2d 695, 16 Cal. Rptr. 855; *People v. Tyler*, 193 Cal. App. 728, 14 Cal. Rptr. 610.

Consequently, in determining whether the action in this instance was reasonable, federal standards are not wholly applicable.

In the instant case, the police officers acting upon an anonymous tip, approached the motel where the appellant was staying and requested the manager to allow them to look around the appellant's room. The manager allowed the officers to search the room. The officers found a pistol taken from the Harmon City burglary (Exhibit 1). Thereafter, they left the room and waited for appellant and his companion to return. Shortly after appellant returned (and again construing the evidence most favorable to the conviction, *State v. Ward*, 10 Utah 2d 34, 347 P. 2d 865 (1959)), the police approached the room with drawn guns, but holstered them before reaching and entering the appellant's room. The door to the room was open and the police first identified themselves and asked if they could enter, to which they received an affirmative reply from the occupants, "Yes, you can come in and look around" (R. 76). Thereafter, the officers entered and asked the appellant if his person could be searched and he agreed. Exhibit 1, which the officers already knew about, was seized. Exhibits 2 and 3, which the officers had not discovered, were also taken. Exhibit 4 was not discovered by virtue of any unlawful search. The room where the appellant was located and staying was rented to a Mr. Carrell who paid the rent (R. 101), although it was apparently due at the time of the search.

In 79 C. J. S., Searches and Seizures, § 98, it is noted:

"One who seeks affirmative relief on the ground that officers violated his constitutional rights in making a search has the burden of estab-

lishing facts from which it will affirmatively appear that his rights were invaded.”

Consequently, the appellant had the duty of demonstrating the illegality of the search. In the first instance as to the right of the police to search with the manager’s consent, Varon, *Searches and Seizures*, Vol. 1, p. 439 (1961) notes:

“In the case of owners, landlords and tenants there have been many decisions in the various courts throughout the nation that define the rights of each and although the greater weight of authority appears to hold that owners of property and landlords under leases and tenancy agreements have the right to consent to a search of their property, there is a question that is meritoriously raised when the rights of the tenants in possession are absolute.”

The appellant offered no evidence to show that the motel manager had no right to allow inspection or search of the premises. Where the room was actually let to someone other than appellant, where the rent was apparently due, and where no evidence was introduced as to the terms of occupancy, it certainly may be concluded that the appellant has not carried his burden of showing the landlady had no authority to permit the room to be searched. In *People v. Dillard*, 168 Cal. App. 2d 158, 335 P. 2d 702 (1959), the court noted as to a similar situation:

“As her first ground for reversal appellant urges that the entry of the officers into her apartment during her absence was in violation of her constitutional rights and that the evidence produced against her was obtained through an illegal search and seizure. In this regard, as heretofore set forth,

when the officers arrived at appellant's apartment they knocked on the door several times and receiving no response they approached the manager who in response to their request opened the door for them. When they entered they discovered the marihuana seeds on the bed. Appellant does not contend that the manager had no authority to enter the apartment, and the manager testified that he voluntarily permitted the officers to enter. On the occasion of the first visit of the officers to appellant's apartment, there was no search. The contraband was plainly visible when the officers entered. The situation here presented is analogous to that existing in *People v. Ambrose*, 155 Cal. App. 2d 513, at page 523, 318 P. 2d 181, at page 188, wherein we said:

“The officers asked the hotel manager for authority to enter the room whereupon he opened the door and let them in. The question of consent is to be determined by the trier of fact (citing cases). Upon the authority of *People v. Gorg*, 45 Cal. 2d 776, 783, 291 P. 2d 469, and *People v. Caritativo*, 46 Cal. 2d 68, 73, 292 P. 2d 513, we are persuaded that appellant's contention must be rejected. In the cited case it is held that where the officers have acted in good faith with the consent of a homeowner or landlord in conducting a search, and the latter believed they had joint control over the premises, and the right to enter them, evidence so obtained cannot be excluded merely because the officers may have made a reasonable mistake as to the extent of the owner or landlord's authority. See also *People v. Silva*, 140 Cal. App. 2d 791, 794-795, 295 P. 2d 942.’ ”

Consequently, it is submitted appellant has failed to show an illegal search of the premises.

Secondly, it is submitted that even if the original search were invalid, for several reasons appellant may not complain.

First, it is submitted that if the first search was illegal, the subsequent search was made with the consent of the appellant, and having consented to the subsequent search wherein the gun was seized, he thereby ratified what had been done before. In *People v. Allen*, 142 Cal. App. 2d 267, 298 P. 2d 714 (1956), the California court so held. The appellant's reliance upon *Silverthorne Lumber Co. v. United States*, 251 U. S. 385 (1920), is not applicable, since in that case, after the illegal search, the internal revenue service sought to subpoena the records discovered by the search. There was no question of a voluntary relinquishment or ratification by subsequent conduct. Certainly, there is nothing unreasonable about holding that consent to search waives any previous illegality occurring by a prior search where the same contraband is on the premises. It is just as probable that consent would have been given before, under the same circumstances, had the appellant been present. Consequently, no logical basis exists not to find a ratification or waiver.

Nor is there any basis to the claim that there was no consent to the second search. The question of consent or no consent is primarily a matter of fact to be determined by the trial court before ruling on the admissibility of the evidence, and hence the legality of the search. *People v. Fischer*, 49 Cal. 2d 442, 317 P. 2d 967. The only real issue is whether the evidence before the court would not as a

matter of law support a conclusion that the appellant consented to the search.

It is recognized that consent must be freely given and not merely acquiesced in by the person whose premises or person is being searched. *Johnson v. United States*, 333 U. S. 10 (1948). However, in the instant case, the police requested permission to search and received it before ever going about the search. Nor did the appellant merely acquiesce in the officers' request. On the contrary, an affirmative invitation was made to the police to look around. Although the police had originally drawn their guns, they were holstered before entering and requesting permission to search. In *People v. Torres*, 158 Cal. App. 2d 213, 322 P. 2d 300 (1958), the court noted the following facts:

"The facts bearing upon this narrow issue may be stated briefly. At approximately 6:00 p.m. on March 19, 1957, Officer King of the Narcotics Division of the Los Angeles Police Department was informed by Sergeant Bitterhoff of the Robbery Division that a man named Tony residing at 136 West 69th Street was selling narcotics. At approximately 9:45 p.m. on March 19, 1957, Officer King was standing in front of the residence at the given address when appellant (whose nickname was Tony) opened the door and came out. The officers identified themselves as police officers and stated to appellant that they had information that he was using and dealing in narcotics. He denied the accusatory statement. The officers then asked him whether 'it would be all right if we'd look in the house.' Appellant answered, 'Yes, go ahead.'"

Based thereon, the court ruled the search voluntary, commenting :

“A search of a house with the express, free and voluntary consent of a householder suspected of possessing narcotics is neither unreasonable nor unlawful. It follows that contraband found and seized in the course of such a search may lawfully and properly be received in evidence against the accused. *People v. Burke*, 47 Cal. 2d 45, 301 P. 2d 241; *People v. Michael*, 45 Cal. 2d 751, 290 P. 2d 852; *People v. Hood*, 149 Cal. App. 2d 836, 309 P. 2d 135. It is true, as pointed out in *People v. Michael*, supra, that one need not forcibly resist an officer’s assertion of authority to search, but if he freely consents to a search, then neither the search nor the seizure of evidence found in the course thereof is unreasonable. As the court there stated (45 Cal. 2d at page 753, 290 P. 2d at page 854), ‘Whether in a particular case an apparent consent was in fact voluntarily given or was in submission to an express or implied assertion of authority, is a question of fact to be determined in the light of all the circumstances.’ To the same effect are *People v. Lujan*, 141 Cal. App. 2d 143, 296 P. 2d 93, and *People v. Gorg*, 45 Cal. 2d 776, 291 P. 2d 469. Since the question is one of fact primarily for the trial court’s determination, the finding of that court, supported by substantial evidence, is binding upon an appellate court. *People v. Hood*, supra, 149 Cal. App. 2d 836, 838, 309 P. 2d 135; *People v. Allen*, 142 Cal. App. 2d 267, 281, 298 P. 2d 714; *People v. Smith*, 141 Cal. App. 2d 399, 402, 296 P. 2d 913.”

See also *People v. Burke*, 47 Cal. 2d 45, 301 P. 2d 241 (1956), where the California Supreme Court found similar facts sufficient to show consent.

Finally, since there was consent to the search, during which Exhibits 2 and 3 were seized, and since Exhibit 4 was not the subject of search and seizure, and since these three exhibits were admitted in evidence as coming from the burglary, and adding to these facts the defendant's admission of theft from Harmon City, it is difficult to see how the admission of Exhibit 1, even if the subject of an illegal search and seizure, could have prejudiced the appellant's position where the other evidence was so conclusive of guilt.

POINT III.

THE COURT DID NOT ERR IN ITS ACTION ON DEFENDANT'S INSTRUCTION RE- QUESTS.

Appellant finally contends that the court erred in failing to give the appellant's instructions 3 through 7. These instructions do not specifically appear to have been requested during the trial, but merely appear to have been filed with the clerk the same day as the trial (R. 15, et seq.). The instructions concern the statement made by the appellant to the police while in custody. The court apparently did not give any instructions on that matter (R. 19-34). However, no exceptions to the failure to give any instructions appear of record. In the absence of exceptions, the appellant cannot complain of any error unless the error was so apparent as to deny the appellant a fair trial. *State v. Cobo*, 90 Utah 89, 60 P. 2d 952 (1936); *State v. Peterson*, 121 Utah 229, 240 P. 2d 504; *State v. Hines*, 6

Utah 2d 126, 307 P. 2d 887 (1957). Since the evidence in the instant case, as it was before the jury, showed no possible claim of coercion or impropriety in taking the statement actually admitted, there was no error in not giving the instructions. On direct examination, the sheriff's deputy testified that no promises of any kind were made prior to the time the statement was given that was placed before the jury. He adhered to that position on cross-examination. All that was admitted was that a promise was made, subsequent to the taking of the statement that was placed before the jury. No evidence appears to rebut that position. Consequently, there was no issue of fact or dispute so as to require an instruction to be given the jury. The appellant is not entitled to abstract instructions of legal principals not raised by the evidence, *State v. Thompson*, 110 Utah 113, 170 P. 2d 153, and has no basis for complaint.

CONCLUSION

The appellant has raised several claims of error, but an analysis of the alleged errors demonstrates that there is no basis for reversal. The conviction should be affirmed.